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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC., COMEDY )

PARTNERS, COUNTRY MUSIC )

TELEVISION, INC., PARAMOUNT )

PICTURES CORPORATION, and BLACK )

ENTERTAINMENT TELEVISION LLC, )

)

Plaintiffs, )

vs. ) Case No. 1:07CV02103

YOUTUBE, INC., YOUTUBE, LLC, )

and GOOGLE, INC., )

)

Defendants. )

___________________________________)

THE FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION PREMIER )

LEAGUE LIMITED, BOURNE CO., et al.,)

on behalf of themselves and all )

others similarly situated, )

)

Plaintiffs, )

vs. ) Case No. 07CV3582

YOUTUBE, INC., YOUTUBE, LLC, and )

GOOGLE, INC., )

)

Defendants. )

__________________________________)

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF SHASHI SETH

New York, New York

Thursday, July 16th, 2009

REPORTED BY:

ERICA RUGGIERI, CSR, RPR

JOB NO: 17168
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1 SETH

2 A. Right. So this analysis is very

3 different from the other analysis that we

4 did. This is just looking at top 10,000

5 10:42:13 and just finding patterns in here, right.

6 There's no algorithm being run

7 here, nothing. It is just picking out

8 some -- if you looked at 10,000 search

9 results for long enough, what are some of

10 10:42:27 the key things that you might be able to

11 pick out, just intuitively.

12 So all this was trying to say

13 is, hey, given the fact that we have lot

14 of people, for example, looking for

15 10:42:42 regional content, I highlighted some

16 Indian celebrities being searched here to

17 state the fact that, you know, search

18 queries can indicate for you where that

19 person is searching for and, you know,

20 10:42:58 whether they are finding the right kind of

21 content.

22 Of course, there's some caveats,

23 as I mentioned here, of course, there are

24 lots of individuals outside of India that

25 10:43:09 maybe certainly searching for the content
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2 as well. As I indicated, the people are

3 searching in French and British and

4 Japanese and Indian content and zone.

5 10:43:25 Freshness is definitely important as well,

6 as I highlighted here. And zone.

7 So just to summarize it, my

8 intent was to just pick out a couple of

9 key things, highlight them and then allow

10 10:43:39 people to draw conclusions from it on

11 their own.

12 Q. And so looking at this analysis

13 in Exhibit 5 and the analysis that we

14 looked at a minute ago in Exhibit 4,

15 10:43:53 although different methods are applied to

16 both, both analyses indicate that music --

17 that entertainment, including music and TV

18 shows, is a popular search term, or

19 popular search terms, correct?

20 10:44:13 A. Yes. It does indicate demand.

21 It doesn't indicate what people are

22 watching. Neither of these methods have a

23 way to find that. But they certainly do

24 suggest demand.

25 10:44:24 Q. They suggest what the users are



450 7th Avenue - Ste 2803, New York, NY 10123 (212)705-8585
DAVID FELDMAN WORLDWIDE, INC.

104

1 SETH

2 looking for, correct?

3 A. Correct.

4 Q. And if you look at the first

5 10:44:33 page of the attachment to Exhibit 5, where

6 it lists all -- begins listing all of the

7 queries. Just so I understand how this

8 works, and maybe we won't pick the first

9 one, but maybe the third one,

10 10:44:48 , the number that comes after the

11 comma, the , what does that

12 represent?

13 A. I believe that and

14 all synonyms related to were

15 10:45:09 looked for, you know, ,

16 roughly.

17 Q. I think it might be --

18 A. Sorry, .

19 Q. And it appeared --

20 10:45:28 A. So the ordering here is the top

21 query and all synonyms and so on.

22 Q. We can put that to the side.

23 THE WITNESS: Can I take a very

24 quick bathroom break?

25 10:45:58 MR. WILKENS: Yes.
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2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

3 10:46 a.m., and we are going off the

4 record.

5 10:46:03 (Whereupon, there is a recess in

6 the proceedings.)

7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

8 10:56 a.m., and we are back on the

9 record.

10 10:56:36 Q. Hi, Mr. Seth.

11 If we can go back to Exhibit 4

12 for a minute.

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. Just looking at the group of

15 10:56:53 numbers at the top, maybe the first line,

16 which says " ,"

17 and then it has a then it has a

18 number.

19 Can you explain what the --

20 10:57:10 A. It's a percentage point.

21 Q. It's a percentage.

22 A. The is, from what I can

23 recollect and that I think this e-mail

24 suggests as well, is just a classification

25 10:57:22 number that reflects that first line.
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2 Q. Is that the same thing that we

3 were just talking about a moment ago with

4 Exhibit 8, where you would remove from the

5 11:54:34 bucket of UGC content the instances of a,

6 for example, the Shakira video you

7 mentioned, that were not owned by the

8 copyright owner Warner?

9 A. Correct. So what this is

10 11:54:47 assuming at this point is that -- well,

11 let me just back up.

12 Do you have an understanding of

13 what the CYC process is?

14 Q. If you could explain it, that

15 11:55:01 would be great.

16 A. It's called the Claim Your

17 Content and essentially is giving access

18 to the professional content owners, as

19 well as any partner, to be able to

20 11:55:19 identify that content and say, "This

21 belongs to me, and so all view counts of

22 this video should also belong to me. And

23 all monetization, if they allow it, also

24 belongs to me." So that's called the

25 11:55:36 claiming process, so to speak.
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2 Yes. So what we were saying

3 with the second bullet point is that if we

4 adjust the UGC pool for own original

5 11:55:53 content, as far as YouTube could know,

6 then do things become different.

7 (Seth Exhibit 10, document

8 produced by Google, Bates number

9 GOO001-02414976 to 2414980, marked

10 11:57:47 for identification, as of this

11 date.)

12 MR. WILKENS: This is Seth

13 Exhibit 10. And it's a document

14 produced by Google, beginning with the

15 11:57:44 Bates number GOO001-02414976, ending

16 in 2414980.

17 A. Okay.

18 Q. Do you recognize this document?

19 A. Somewhat, yes.

20 11:59:39 Q. And at least the last in time

21 e-mail, the very top of the first page it

22 is from you to Jordan Hoffner, Julia Peker

23 and Palash Nandy, correct?

24 A. Uh-hum.

25 11:59:53 Q. And it's titled, The First Peek
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2 At the Numbers.

3 Who is Jordan Hoffner?

4 A. He is the director of business

5 12:00:05 development at YouTube.

6 Q. And why were you sending a first

7 peek at the numbers to him?

8 A. Most likely because we may have

9 had a hallway conversation about

10 12:00:24 something, and it was in response to that.

11 I don't remember for sure.

12 Q. If you look down at sort of the

13 middle of the first page, where it's an

14 e-mail from Julia Peker that starts with,

15 12:00:46 "Hey, Shashi, "and ends with "Let me know

16 if you have questions."

17 Do you see that?

18 A. Yeah.

19 Q. And she says that she's

20 12:00:54 attaching some numbers and that she's

21 analyzing all views for the week of

22 May 6th --

23 A. Right.

24 Q. -- do you see that?

25 12:01:07 Is there any particular reason
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2 why that week was selected?

3 A. No. Just a random selection of

4 one week.

5 12:01:18 Q. The analysis was of all views

6 for that week?

7 A. One week, yes.

8 Q. That would --

9 A. And then one week period was

10 12:01:27 chosen, as that was what was possible to

11 do in a fairly short period of time run.

12 Running anything more than that would have

13 taken many days.

14 Q. Is it your understanding that

15 12:01:41 refers to the week of May 6, 2007?

16 A. Right, yes.

17 Q. And the numbers that she says

18 she's attaching, those are the numbers

19 that appear on the last page of this

20 12:01:55 exhibit; is that right?

21 A. Yes. And I don't understand

22 everything about this --

23 MR. FRANKS: There's no question

24 pending. You answered the question.

25 12:02:10 Q. I guess sort of flipping back
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2 between the first page and the last page,

3 she says she "has total views used for

4 premium partners only and views for

5 12:02:29 content that was taken down for copyright

6 issues (some interesting numbers there)."

7 Do you understand why she

8 included numbers for total views, views

9 for premium partners only and views for

10 12:02:49 content that was taken down for copyright

11 issues?

12 MR. WILLEN: Objection. Calls

13 for speculation.

14 A. No, I have no idea.

15 12:02:54 Q. Now, if you look at the last

16 page, you see on the left where it says,

17 "All premium and copyright."

18 Is that referring to the three

19 categories that Julia Peker mentioned in

20 12:03:23 the e-mail that we were just reviewing?

21 A. Yeah. This is what I don't

22 understand.

23 MR. FRANKS: You want to look at

24 this one, so you can see two at the

25 12:03:52 same time?
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2 THE WITNESS: No, this is good.

3 Q. You may not want to write on the

4 actual exhibit. You just want to see the

5 12:03:59 commas?

6 A. Yeah.

7 MR. FRANKS: You can do it on

8 mine. You can write the commas on

9 there.

10 12:04:14 Q. I had the same desire.

11 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

12 MR. WILLEN: Sorry. What was

13 the question?

14 MR. WILKENS: Yeah, whether -- I

15 12:04:33 asked whether the words on the left,

16 leftmost column of the last page, "all

17 premium and copyrighted," correspond

18 to the categories that are in Julia

19 Peker's e-mail on the first page that

20 12:04:49 we just talked about.

21 MR. WILLEN: Objection. Calls

22 for speculation.

23 A. From what I can understand of

24 the document, it breaks down into three

25 12:05:03 buckets of all views of all content for
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2 that one-week period, views for content

3 that came from a list of partners under

4 the line item Premium, and then a list

5 12:05:28 of -- or views of content that were

6 removed from YouTube, for a number of

7 reasons.

8 Q. And Julia says in the first page

9 this is for copyright issues, correct?

10 12:05:45 MR. WILLEN: Objection. The

11 document speaks for itself.

12 Q. You can answer the question.

13 A. That's what she says, yes.

14 Q. Now, just moving over a few

15 12:06:04 columns to the Count Videos column.

16 A. Uh-hum, yes.

17 Q. Is it your understanding that

18 that represents the videos that were --

19 the number of videos that were viewed with

20 12:06:19 the views that are in the, I guess the

21 first column of numbers?

22 MR. WILLEN: Objection to the

23 form.

24 A. It refers to the actual number

25 12:06:31 of individual videos.
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2 Q. In that bucket -- in each

3 bucket?

4 A. That generated the number of

5 12:06:38 views in the first column.

6 Q. Okay. And then, if you look one

7 column further to the Average Views Per

8 Video, am I correct that that represents

9 the views -- the number of views in the

10 12:06:53 first column divided by the number of

11 videos in the Count Videos column?

12 A. That's correct.

13 Q. So that the average number of

14 views for all videos was approximately

15 12:07:06 views?

16 A. Correct.

17 Q. And that the average number of

18 views for all premium videos was ?

19 A. Correct.

20 12:07:24 Q. And that the average number of

21 views per video for the copyrighted bucket

22 is , correct?

23 A. That is correct.

24 Q. And you -- and turning back to

25 12:07:45 the first page, you forwarded this to
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2 Jordan Hoffner.

3 Do you recall getting any kind

4 of reaction from him?

5 12:08:03 A. No. I don't even recall the

6 conversation that prompted me to send it

7 to him in the first place.

8 Q. Okay. We can put that to one

9 side.

10 12:08:40 Let me ask you whether you --

11 when you received that analysis from Julia

12 Peker, did you discuss it with her or with

13 Palash Nandy?

14 A. I'm not sure.

15 12:08:57 Q. Do you recall whether you had

16 any questions about the numbers on the

17 last page and whether you asked, followed

18 up on any such questions that you might

19 have had with her?

20 12:09:15 MR. WILLEN: Objection to the

21 form. It's a compound question.

22 A. No, I don't recall.

23 Q. If you had questions about the

24 analysis or the methodology, would you

25 12:09:34 have asked them before you forwarded the
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2 numbers on to Mr. Hoffner?

3 MR. FRANKS: Objection. Calls

4 for speculation. Incomplete

5 12:09:42 hypothetical.

6 A. I think, as I said in that

7 e-mail, that this is very early analysis,

8 and that's it. I'm guessing from the

9 content of the e-mail, I would guess that

10 12:10:02 was too early to start even thinking about

11 any details at that point.

12 MR. WILKENS: This is Seth

13 Exhibit 11. It's a document produced

14 by Google with the Bates number

15 12:10:52 GOO001-03241189 through 3241192.

16 (Seth Exhibit 11, document

17 produced by Google, Bates numbers

18 GOO001-03241189 through 3241192,

19 marked for identification, as of

20 12:11:50 this date.)

21 A. Yeah.

22 Q. And do you recognize this

23 document, Mr. Seth?

24 A. Uh-hum.

25 12:12:01 Q. It's an, at least the top, the
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2 first, last-in-time e-mail, the top e-mail

3 on the first page, is from Julia Peker to

4 Shashi Seth, with a copy to Jordan Hoffner

5 12:12:15 and Palash Nandy. And in that first

6 e-mail Julia Peker says that she's sending

7 the same spreadsheet with numbers for

8 favorites, comments and subscriptions.

9 Do you see that?

10 12:12:29 A. Uh-hum.

11 Q. And then, if you turn to the

12 last -- the last two pages, you see at the

13 top of the Bates numbered page beginning

14 3241191, the top there and extending over

15 12:12:53 to the next page, 3241192, the same

16 numbers that we were just discussing in

17 Seth Exhibit 10, correct?

18 A. Correct.

19 Q. And then below that Julia Peker

20 12:13:11 has added additional numbers, which she

21 mentions on the first page, right?

22 A. Correct.

23 Q. And I believe these are the

24 signals that we were talking about earlier

25 12:13:23 for favorites, UGC content -- favorites
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2 comments; is that correct?

3 A. Correct.

4 Q. And if you look on the -- well,

5 12:13:43 the columns of data here under the

6 favorites analysis, for example, under

7 Premium Content there's a count for the, I

8 guess the total number of videos that

9 were -- is that the total number of videos

10 12:14:08 that were favorited in the Premium Content

11 bucket?

12 MR. WILLEN: Objection. Calls

13 for speculation.

14 A. I believe the way the data is

15 12:14:25 laid out is that the first number falls

16 under the count of users, that number of

17 users. The second number comes from the

18 count of videos. So those were the actual

19 number of videos that, in this analysis,

20 12:14:40 were used.

21 And then the third number, the

22 number, is the one that reflects

23 the number of times that somebody

24 favorited that video --

25 12:14:56 Q. And --



450 7th Avenue - Ste 2803, New York, NY 10123 (212)705-8585
DAVID FELDMAN WORLDWIDE, INC.

149

1 SETH

2 A. -- those videos.

3 Q. So all videos were

4 favorited in an aggregate number of

5 12:15:13 times, correct?

6 A. That's correct.

7 Q. The next number, it says Average

8 Fave Per Video. I think that means

9 average favorite for video?

10 12:15:21 A. That's correct.

11 Q. Is the number of videos divided

12 by the number of -- the number of

13 favorites divided by the number of videos,

14 correct?

15 12:15:29 A. That's correct.

16 Q. So it's times favorite per

17 video, correct?

18 A. Correct.

19 Q. And that's for the Premium

20 12:15:37 Content bucket, right?

21 A. That is correct.

22 Q. And then, if you go to the next

23 bucket, the UGC -- what's called here the

24 UGC Content bucket, the average number of

25 12:15:49 favorites per video is ; is that
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2 correct?

3 A. That is correct.

4 Q. And just going further down to

5 12:16:01 the Comments Analysis, the average

6 comments per video for premium content is

7 , and it's -- and the average --

8 MR. WILKENS: Sorry, strike

9 that.

10 12:16:13 Q. If you go down to the Comments

11 Analysis for the premium content bucket

12 the average comments per video is ,

13 correct?

14 A. That is correct.

15 12:16:21 Q. And then for the UGC content

16 bucket, the average comments per video is

17 , correct?

18 A. Correct.

19 Q. And for -- the very bottom here,

20 12:16:36 the Subscription Analysis, can you explain

21 what a subscription is?

22 A. When a user subscribes to a

23 video, they are subscribing both to the

24 creator of the video or the user who

25 12:16:54 uploaded that video as well as the video
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2 itself. And based on that subscription,

3 they get notifications of what is

4 happening with that user.

5 12:17:04 So every time a new video is

6 uploaded by that user, you would get a

7 notification, for example, an e-mail, that

8 says, this user has uploaded a new video.

9 Or if it's the video, you may get

10 12:17:20 notifications of, hey, there's a new

11 comment, et cetera.

12 So it's a pretty important

13 element as well, in terms of signals of

14 how users interact with the video.

15 12:17:41 Q. And I guess underneath here

16 there's a Premium Channels heading or

17 subheading.

18 Do you know if there was any

19 analysis done on any other categories or

20 12:18:00 buckets, like UGC channels?

21 MR. WILLEN: Objection to the

22 form.

23 A. I believe this e-mail is -- I

24 believe in this e-mail Julia has left out

25 12:18:34 the word UGC Count Subscribers, but that's
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2 what it's meant to be, is that the first

3 line item under the Subscription Analysis

4 is meant to be for premium channels, and

5 12:18:47 the second one is supposed to be for UGC

6 channels. And she may have left that out,

7 but that's what it's meant to do, is to

8 compare those two, much like how she's

9 done it for the other categories.

10 12:19:04 Q. And do you know whether any

11 further analysis of, along the lines of

12 what's an Exhibit 10 and Exhibit 11, was

13 done after Julia Peker sent Seth

14 Exhibit 11?

15 12:19:33 MR. WILLEN: Objection to the

16 form.

17 A. I don't recall.

18 Q. Do you recall reporting these

19 numbers or -- to anyone at YouTube, other

20 12:19:54 than Jordan Hoffner?

21 A. No. Unfortunately, I do not

22 recall.

23 MR. WILLEN: Is this a good time

24 for lunch, or do you want to --

25 12:20:42 MR. WILKENS: Actually, it is a
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2 good time for lunch. At least I don't

3 have a lot afterward, so I don't know

4 how long you want to take, but.

5 12:20:49 MR. WILLEN: Maybe half hour.

6 MR. WILKENS: And the lunch

7 is -- it's not here yet.

8 MR. FRANKS: Can we go off the

9 record for a second. I can use a

10 12:20:58 break, anyway.

11 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

12 12:21 p.m., and we are going off the

13 record.

14 (Luncheon recess taken at

15 12:21 p.m.)

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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2 A F T E R N O O N S E S S I O N

3 (Time noted: 1:12 p.m.)

4 S H A S H I S E T H , resumed and

5 testified as follows:

6 EXAMINATION BY (Cont'd.)

7 MR. WILKENS:

8 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

9 1:12 p.m., and we are back on the

10 01:12:42 record.

11 MR. WILKENS: Mark the next

12 exhibit. This is number 12.

13 (Seth Exhibit 12, document

14 produced by Google, Bates numbers

15 01:13:41 GOO001-0943950 through 5943959,

16 marked for identification, as of

17 this date.)

18 MR. WILKENS: This is a document

19 produced by Google in the litigation,

20 01:13:39 beginning with the Bates number

21 GOO001-0943950, ending 5943959.

22 Q. Do you recognize this document,

23 Mr. Seth?

24 A. Yes.

25 01:14:09 Q. Is this a cover e-mail with a
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2 presentation that you prepared?

3 A. Yes.

4 Q. And does this presentation

5 01:14:26 contain or refer to some of the data that

6 we were talking about in Seth Exhibits 10

7 and 11?

8 A. Right. Some of that, however, I

9 think the methodology for how this was

10 01:14:43 done was very different than the

11 methodologies referred to in the prior

12 exhibits.

13 Q. And can you explain how the

14 methodologies differed?

15 01:14:57 A. So in this particular version, I

16 believe what we did was looked at the

17 search terms for a particular day. And

18 then, using the algorithm that I described

19 to you earlier about classifying search

20 01:15:21 terms, broke it down into various

21 categories and used that as the baseline

22 for figuring out where those buckets or

23 categories fell in premium, as I refer to

24 it here, where it says "UGC content."

25 01:15:45 It's based on a lot of
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2 hypotheses, but that's what we had to go

3 by.

4 Q. And when you were just talking a

5 01:15:52 minute ago about segmenting the views into

6 different buckets or types of content

7 that's on page 3, on page 3 --

8 MR. WILKENS: Strike that.

9 Q. The methodology you were just

10 01:16:14 referring to a moment ago that you applied

11 in this analysis to -- where an algorithm

12 was applied to develop these different

13 breakdowns of content, is that reflected

14 on page 3 of Exhibit 12?

15 01:16:28 A. That is correct.

16 Q. And then that same analysis is

17 used on page 4 to indicate what percent of

18 content that's being watched is premium

19 content; is that correct?

20 01:16:49 A. What I'm referring to here in

21 bullet points 1 and 2 is one of the

22 exhibits that we talked about where Juliet

23 Peker had summarized it in those three

24 lines. The percent points are derived by

25 01:17:11 that, the point 1 and point 2.
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2 Q. And if you turn to page 5, where

3 it says, "

4 n

5 01:17:23 ," do

6 you see that?

7 A. I see that.

8 Q. The two bullets below those, the

9 numbers in those bullets, are those also

10 01:17:34 derived from the analysis that we were

11 looking at before from Julia Peker?

12 A. That is correct.

13 Q. So these are results that you --

14 MR. WILKENS: Strike that.

15 01:17:48 Q. So there are portions of Julia

16 Peker's analysis that you put into this

17 presentation and then provided to the

18 individuals listed on the front of Seth

19 Exhibit 12, correct?

20 01:18:00 A. That is correct.

21 Q. And did you also discuss the

22 contents of this presentation with them?

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. And did they have questions

25 01:18:16 about the methodology?
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2 MR. WILLEN: Objection to the

3 form.

4 A. Not so much questions about the

5 01:18:24 methodology, but questions about the

6 contents and how should they use this data

7 to solve particular problems that they

8 were looking at.

9 Q. And do you know how, if at all,

10 01:18:47 this data was used by YouTube after your

11 presentation?

12 A. No. Post my giving them a

13 summary and answering any questions that

14 they had, I had no further involvement in

15 01:19:05 how this data was utilized by various

16 teams.

17 Q. Do you recall what any of their

18 questions were?

19 MR. WILLEN: Objection to form.

20 01:19:18 A. I don't remember an entire list

21 of questions.

22 The one thing that does stand

23 out was this conversation that I brought

24 up around the fact that these are some

25 01:19:34 ways or, you know, one way of looking at
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2 the data that drives that demand for, you

3 know, different kinds of content. But

4 what it does not get at is, is that how

5 01:19:50 people are consuming content, right?

6 And I did spend some time

7 differentiating between those two, because

8 it is an important thing to understand

9 that demand and supply may be very

10 01:20:03 different. And you might be able to do

11 some things to change the demand/supply

12 situations, but maybe inherently that is

13 what the users do, just how they behave.

14 I think it is also relevant, I

15 01:20:26 think people were looking at it as solving

16 different problems, and I think I had to

17 bring people back to the point that this

18 was just one analysis that was met at, you

19 know, how the document is titled, which it

20 01:20:41 is meant to just give a guidance on what

21 kind of partnerships should people pursue.

22 I did not want people to walk

23 away that I was drawing conclusions from

24 this data any more than what is stated

25 01:20:57 here, which is specifically that there are
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2 certain areas where the partnership team

3 could focus on and drive more

4 partnerships, which they had already

5 01:21:07 undertaken by this time frame, they

6 already had significant partnerships with

7 people like Universal Music, Warner Music

8 and so on. But this was a further

9 validation, as well as a guidance, of

10 01:21:21 where they should focus their efforts.

11 Q. And based on the analysis, where

12 did this analysis, from your

13 understanding, suggest that they should be

14 focusing their partnership efforts?

15 01:21:47 MR. WILLEN: Objection --

16 objection to the form.

17 THE WITNESS: Sorry.

18 A. As I believe in the last page of

19 the presentation, I bring it home with

20 01:22:05 three major bullet points. First one

21 clearly says there is immense value in

22 continuing the partnerships. The

23 subbullet on that is referring to music

24 representing the highest value and also

25 01:22:26 the lowest hanging fruit, meaning we
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2 already have partnerships, and there's a

3 few others that can be close.

4 The second bullet refers to some

5 01:22:36 user experience, things that we could fix

6 on the platform, which I don't own or, you

7 know, have no control over.

8 And finally, that there is --

9 there are revenue opportunities with

10 01:22:51 partners that we should get our arms

11 around.

12 Q. And the first bullet, the top of

13 that page, when you say -- when it says

14 "Partnerships in these areas," are you

15 01:23:06 referring to partnerships in the areas of

16 premium content?

17 MR. WILLEN: Objection to form.

18 A. What I'm referring to are these

19 specific areas. On page 3 I highlight a

20 01:23:42 couple of areas like music videos, movies,

21 celebrities, TV programs, et cetera,

22 comics and animae. That would make sense.

23 Q. Thank you.

24 Do you know whether anyone at

25 01:24:08 YouTube performed any analyses that looked
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2 at similar questions that you were looking

3 at, in terms of whether to prioritize

4 premium content partnerships or focus on

5 01:24:22 UGC type user partnerships?

6 MR. WILLEN: Objection.

7 Mischaracterizes testimony and the

8 document.

9 THE WITNESS: Should I answer?

10 01:24:38 MR. WILLEN: You can answer.

11 Q. You can answer.

12 A. No, I don't.

13 Q. Do you know if there were any

14 attempts to further analyze the kinds of

15 01:24:50 data that were in Seth Exhibits 10 and 11?

16 A. No, I don't.

17 Q. Okay. You can put this one

18 aside.

19 MR. WILKENS: Can I have this

20 01:25:23 one marked Seth 13.

21 (Seth Exhibit 13, document

22 produced by Google, Bates number

23 GOO001-00255239 through 00255242,

24 marked for identification, as of

25 01:26:39 this date.)
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2 A. Okay.

3 MR. WILKENS: This is a document

4 produced by Google in the litigation

5 01:26:46 with the Bates number GOO 001-00255239

6 through 00255242.

7 Q. And do you recognize this

8 document, Mr. Seth?

9 A. Yes.

10 01:27:09 Q. I think you see you as a

11 recipient listed in the "to" line there

12 from Jenny Stefanotti?

13 A. Uh-hum.

14 Q. Do you know who -- who is Jenny

15 01:27:21 Stefanotti?

16 A. Jenny Stefanotti used to work in

17 the international -- in the YouTube

18 international team. I don't remember her

19 exact title or role.

20 01:27:36 Q. And the subject line of this

21 e-mail says, "Meeting notes YouTube APLA

22 monetization."

23 Do you know what APLA refers to

24 there?

25 01:27:49 A. Asia Pacific Latin America.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

__________________________________x

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL, INC., COMEDY
PARTNERS, COUNTRY MUSIC TELEVISION,
INC., PARAMOUNT PICTURES CORPORATION,
and BLACK ENTERTAINMENT TELEVISION,
LLC,

Plaintiffs,

vs. NO. 07-CV-2103

YOUTUBE, INC., YOUTUBE, LLC,
and GOOGLE, INC.,

Defendants.
__________________________________x

THE FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION PREMIER
LEAGUE LIMITED, BOURNE CO., et al.,
on behalf of themselves and all
others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs. NO. 07-CV-3582

YOUTUBE, INC., YOUTUBE, LLC,
and GOOGLE, INC.,

Defendants.
__________________________________x

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF MICHAEL WOLF
NEW YORK, NEW YORK

FRIDAY, APRIL 17, 2009

JOB NO.: 16687
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1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 APRIL 17, 2009
10:02 a.m.

9

10

11 VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF MICHAEL

12 WOLF, held at the offices of CAHILL GORDON &

13 REINDEL, LLP, 80 Pine Street, New York, New

14 York, pursuant to subpoena, before JENNIFER

15 OCAMPO-GUZMAN, a Shorthand Reporter and

16 Notary Public of the State of New York.

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1

2 A P P E A R A N C E S:

3

4 FOR THE PLAINTIFFS VIACOM INTERNATIONAL,

5 INC.:

6 JENNER & BLOCK, LLP

7 BY: SUSAN J. KOHLMANN, ESQ.

8 919 Third Avenue, 37th Floor

9 New York, New York 10022-3908

10 (212) 891-1690 skohlmann@jenner.com

11

12 FOR THE DEFENDANTS YOUTUBE, INC., YOUTUBE,

13 LLC and GOOGLE, INC.:

14 WILSON SONSINI GOODRICH & ROSATI, PC

15 BY: BART E. VOLKMER, ESQ.

16 650 Page Mill Road

17 Palo Alto, California 94304-1050

18 650-565-3508 bvolkmer@wsgr.com

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1

2 APPEARANCES (Continued):

3

4 FOR THE DEPONENT:

5 CAHILL GORDON & REINDEL, LLP

6 BY: ADAM ZUROFSKY, ESQ.

7 BY: CHRISTOPHER A. GORMAN, ESQ.

8 80 Pine Street

9 New York, New York 10005-1702

10 (212) 701-3137 azurofsky@cahill.com

11 (212) 701-3119 cgorman@cahill.com

12

13

14 ALSO PRESENT:

15 CARLOS KING, Videographer

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1 Wolf

210:27:03 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

310:27:04 MR. ZUROFSKY: Misstates.

410:27:05 A. I never said that there was a

510:27:07 conflict between those two.

610:27:08 Q. Okay. The previous question I

710:27:11 asked is, what were the disagreements that

810:27:12 you had with Mr. Dauman? And the answer was

910:27:18 that there were two different viewpoints,

1010:27:22 that you were responsible for business

1110:27:23 decisions that were reflected in MTV

1210:27:23 Network's results, and Mr. Dauman was

1310:27:30 responsible for both business and overall

1410:27:31 financial stock price objectives, as well as

1510:27:34 legal issues, and I'm trying to figure out

1610:27:35 where the conflict between those two

1710:27:39 viewpoints was.

1810:27:40 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection to form.

1910:27:42 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to the

2010:27:42 form, but you can answer if you can.

2110:27:44 A. I don't remember specifically those

2210:27:47 agreements -- those disagreements, if there

2310:27:51 were any.

2410:27:57 Q. Was there a conflict in the way you

2510:28:00 thought the MTVN business should be run and



584ffb46-7a6e-4834-9ab5-d178479cf79c

805 Third Avenue, New York, New York 10022 (212)705-8585
DAVID FELDMAN WORLDWIDE, INC.

Page 25

1 Wolf

210:28:03 Mr. Dauman thought the MTVN business should

310:28:06 be run?

410:28:09 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

510:28:10 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to form.

610:28:11 A. No. I think that as in any case,

710:28:18 the relationship between the head of a

810:28:19 corporation and business unit, they're

910:28:24 naturally gives and takes in terms of how

1010:28:28 those relationships exist.

1110:28:30 Q. And when did you leave MTV

1210:28:41 Networks?

1310:28:41 A. At the beginning of February of

1410:28:44 2007.

1510:28:45 Q. Was there a period where you were

1610:28:52 working at MTVN where you had already been

1710:28:55 told that you would, that your services were

1810:28:59 no longer required?

1910:29:01 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection,

2010:29:01 foundation, form.

2110:29:02 A. I was not told that my services

2210:29:04 would not be required.

2310:29:05 Q. Why did you leave MTV Networks?

2410:29:18 A. There had been a change in

2510:29:21 management in the overall Viacom and I
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210:29:27 thought that it was a good moment for the new

310:29:31 Viacom team to proceed with the business and

410:29:34 for me to move on.

510:29:35 Q. Did you resign?

610:29:40 A. Yes.

710:29:41 Q. You were not asked to leave?

810:29:45 A. No.

910:29:46 Q. What were the reasons that you had

1010:29:58 for wanting to resign from MTV Networks?

1110:30:02 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection, asked and

1210:30:03 answered.

1310:30:03 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1410:30:05 MR. ZUROFSKY: But you can answer

1510:30:05 it again.

1610:30:06 A. There was a new team at Viacom and

1710:30:11 I thought that that team should be able to

1810:30:15 pursue its own agenda and, therefore, I

1910:30:20 thought it was a good moment for me to move

2010:30:22 on.

2110:30:22 Q. And when you say "the new team,"

2210:30:24 are you talking about Mr. Dauman and Mr.

2310:30:26 Dooley?

2410:30:26 A. Yes.

2510:30:31 Q. And their agenda was in conflict
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213:42:51 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to form.

313:42:53 A. It could be that we were discussing

413:42:55 those deal -- those terms or it could be

513:42:57 that -- that those were the deal terms we

613:43:00 were proposing. I really can't tell by this

713:43:02 memo and I can't remember when I wrote it.

813:43:03 Q. Could it also be the case that

913:43:07 those deal terms that we just went over had

1013:43:10 not been discussed between the parties as of

1113:43:14 October 3, 2006?

1213:43:15 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to form.

1313:43:17 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection to form.

1413:43:18 A. It's possible, yes.

1513:43:20 Q. You're just not sure one way or the

1613:43:22 other?

1713:43:25 A. I'm not sure. Lots of information.

1813:43:26 Lots of things that go past what I was doing

1913:43:30 as the president of the company and I just

2013:43:33 can't remember what happened in each of these

2113:43:36 situations.

2213:43:36 Q. When Viacom and MTVN were

2313:43:46 negotiating with YouTube in the summer and

2413:43:49 fall of 2006, was it aware of the presence of

2513:43:53 Viacom content on the YouTube website?
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213:43:56 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to form.

313:43:57 A. First of all, I don't know if

413:43:59 Viacom was negotiating with YouTube. I was

513:44:02 in charge of MTV Networks. I don't know if

613:44:05 Viacom, there was any other independent of

713:44:09 MTV Networks' negotiation.

813:44:11 Q. Okay. So I'll rephrase the

913:44:12 question.

1013:44:13 When MTVN was negotiating with

1113:44:16 YouTube in the summer and fall of 2006, was

1213:44:18 it aware of the presence of Viacom content on

1313:44:20 the YouTube website?

1413:44:22 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to form.

1513:44:24 A. I don't recall one way or the

1613:44:26 other.

1713:44:30 Are you asking about this memo or

1813:44:32 just in general?

1913:44:33 Q. I'm not asking about the memo, just

2013:44:36 in general. And this goes throughout the

2113:44:38 entire period of the negotiations between

2213:44:39 YouTube and Google and MTVN, at any time in

2313:44:44 those negotiations was MTVN aware of the

2413:44:48 presence of Viacom content on the YouTube

2513:44:50 website?
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213:44:52 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to form.

313:44:55 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

413:44:56 A. We were certainly aware that our

513:45:02 content was on YouTube.

613:45:03 Q. And during the negotiations did

713:45:11 Viacom allow that content to stay up on

813:45:13 YouTube?

913:45:14 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection to form.

1013:45:15 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1113:45:16 A. The decision would have been ours,

1213:45:20 not Viacom's. It was going to be -- but MTV

1313:45:26 Networks, to the best of my recollection, we

1413:45:28 allowed the content to be there.

1513:45:30 Q. And why did you allow it to be

1613:45:34 there?

1713:45:35 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1813:45:37 A. I'd be only speculating today

1913:45:42 because I can't remember specifically, but I

2013:45:43 would guess that, that we thought that we

2113:45:47 could do a deal with YouTube and that also at

2213:45:53 the same time we thought that having the

2313:45:55 content there was valuable in terms of

2413:45:59 helping the ratings of our shows.

2513:46:24 MR. VOLKMER: Let's go off the
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213:46:25 record.

313:46:26 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

413:46:27 1:44 p.m., and we're off the record.

513:51:31 (A brief recess was taken.)

613:51:31 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

713:51:42 1:50 p.m., and we're back on the record.

813:51:44 BY MR. VOLKMER:

913:51:44 Q. On Monday, October 9, 2006, Google

1013:51:53 issued a press release announcing that it was

1113:51:55 acquiring YouTube. Do you remember having a

1213:51:58 conversation with Eric Schmidt the preceding

1313:52:01 weekend in which you discussed Google's

1413:52:03 potential acquisition of YouTube?

1513:52:06 A. I don't remember the exact dates of

1613:52:08 the things that you're describing to me, but

1713:52:11 I certainly remember having discussion with

1813:52:14 Eric Schmidt before, before the potential

1913:52:19 acquisition, before the acquisition of

2013:52:21 YouTube took place.

2113:52:22 Q. And what do you recall about that

2213:52:24 conversation?

2313:52:29 A. To the best of my ability to

2413:52:33 recall, I remember him telling me that they

2513:52:36 were considering acquiring YouTube, that I
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215:06:57 message on to Ms. Braddi?

315:07:03 A. I did say so, I said I agree, push

415:07:06 the button.

515:07:08 Q. Did Mr. Cahan's message to Ms.

615:07:15 Braddi reflect your own viewpoint?

715:07:18 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

815:07:22 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

915:07:24 A. I think this was just another step

1015:07:35 in the negotiation, back and forth between

1115:07:39 our two companies.

1215:07:40 Q. And do you think that this e-mail

1315:07:48 message reflected your viewpoint on how the

1415:07:53 negotiation should be conducted or do you

1515:07:56 think this is more reflective of Viacom's

1615:07:59 senior management?

1715:08:01 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1815:08:03 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1915:08:04 A. I really don't remember at the

2015:08:08 time. Adam Cahan sent this to me. He had

2115:08:14 thought this through. To be clear of, I was

2215:08:20 running the rest of a $7 billion business and

2315:08:26 I really don't remember where all, you know,

2415:08:31 whose desire this was on either side.

2515:08:32 Q. Okay. In the last sentence of the
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215:08:39 first paragraph, Mr. Cahan writes, "Our

315:08:41 senior team has expressed grave concern with

415:08:44 allowing copyright infringement at YouTube to

515:08:47 persist any longer."

615:08:49 Is the senior team being referenced

715:08:51 there Mr. Dauman and Mr. Dooley?

815:08:54 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection. Excuse

915:08:55 me, objection.

1015:08:56 A. Based on my recollection, it would

1115:09:01 be, yes.

1215:09:06 Q. In the next paragraph, Mr. Cahan

1315:09:08 writes, "Starting tomorrow the lawsuit will

1415:09:10 be announced along with removal of all clips

1515:09:13 at YouTube." And "all" is in capital

1615:09:15 letters.

1715:09:16 Do you know if Viacom was preparing

1815:09:17 to file an infringement lawsuit against

1915:09:19 YouTube and Google around this time frame,

2015:09:22 November 27, 2006?

2115:09:24 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

2215:09:25 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

2315:09:27 A. Yes, they were preparing.

2415:09:29 Q. Mr. Cahan also makes reference to

2515:09:46 100K plus clips; do you see that reference?
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215:09:50 A. I'm trying it find it.

315:09:51 Q. It's in the second sentence.

415:09:53 A. Yes, I see this. Sorry. Yes, go

515:09:55 ahead.

615:09:55 Q. Do you know if Viacom or MTVN had

715:09:57 identified 100,000 clips on the YouTube

815:10:00 service containing its content around this

915:10:02 time frame?

1015:10:03 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1115:10:04 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1215:10:06 A. I don't know the exact number, but

1315:10:07 I know that we had a firm that was engaged

1415:10:11 that was, that was looking at the number of

1515:10:18 clips that were there.

1615:10:20 Q. And that firm was BayTSP?

1715:10:24 A. Yes.

1815:10:25 Q. Did you have any interactions with

1915:10:27 BayTSP?

2015:10:29 A. No.

2115:10:31 Q. Did you have any conversations with

2215:10:31 any employee of BayTSP?

2315:10:34 A. Not that I recall.

2415:10:37 Q. Do you know when BayTSP was engaged

2515:10:41 by Viacom or MTVN?
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215:19:33 largely, it was both an MTV Networks and a

315:19:39 corporate effort it was hard to distinguish

415:19:41 between what, what was going wrong in the

515:19:45 deal, what was going right. Once again, I

615:19:49 continued to be optimistic that we would get

715:19:51 a deal done, that these kinds of deals are

815:19:53 very complex and that there's a lot of

915:19:56 different parties. In the same way, by the

1015:19:59 way, that Google had a lot of different

1115:20:01 objectives.

1215:20:01 Q. But you thought that Google was

1315:20:20 negotiating in good faith, didn't you?

1415:20:23 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1515:20:24 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1615:20:25 A. I think that -- that this was an

1715:20:28 intense negotiation. There were times when

1815:20:32 Google changed the terms of what it was

1915:20:35 offering, especially as different people at

2015:20:41 Google, the deal was passed to different

2115:20:45 people at Google, and at the same time, MTV

2215:20:49 Networks and really Viacom's expectations and

2315:20:51 demands for a deal changed also. So these

2415:20:54 are the kinds of things that happen in the

2515:20:58 normal course of a deal.
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215:20:58 Q. So you would say that, from a

315:21:04 generally accepted business perspective,

415:21:10 Google was negotiating in good faith?

515:21:13 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

615:21:14 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

715:21:14 A. I would say that both parties were

815:21:17 negotiating in good faith.

915:21:18 Q. Including Google?

1015:21:19 A. Yes.

1115:21:21 Q. Ms. McGrath says, "This is exactly

1215:21:23 how we lost MySpace."

1315:21:24 Do you know what that's referring

1415:21:26 to?

1515:21:27 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection, asked and

1615:21:29 answered.

1715:21:29 A. That Viacom did not complete the

1815:21:35 acquisitions of MySpace or IGN.

1915:21:38 Q. And she's comparing those failed

2015:21:53 acquisitions to the failure to get a deal

2115:21:56 done with Google?

2215:21:58 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

2315:21:58 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

2415:21:59 A. That's what -- that appears what's

2515:22:02 happening and she's saying in this e-mail.
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215:22:12 MR. VOLKMER: I would like to mark

315:22:13 Exhibit 19.

415:22:14 (Exhibit Wolf-19, E-mails dated

515:22:14 12/15/06, Bates Nos. VIA02073145 and

615:22:14 VIA02073146, marked for identification,

715:22:35 this date.)

815:22:35 Q. This is a document produced by

915:23:04 Viacom in this litigation. The last in time

1015:23:07 e-mail, a message from Michael Wolf to Eric

1115:23:10 Schmidt dated December 15th and Mr. Schmidt's

1215:23:13 response is the next in time e-mail and then

1315:23:16 Mr. Wolf forwards the message to Mr. Cahan.

1415:23:25 A. Yes.

1515:23:25 MR. ZUROFSKY: Actually, the last

1615:23:26 in time is the forward. The first in

1715:23:29 time you said.

1815:23:31 MR. VOLKMER: The first in time.

1915:23:32 MR. ZUROFSKY: You said the last in

2015:23:34 time.

2115:23:34 MR. VOLKMER: Misspoke.

2215:23:37 Q. And if you could --

2315:23:38 A. Could I just have -- this is a long

2415:23:41 memo --

2515:23:42 Q. Sure, yeah, take a look.
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215:31:05 A. Yes.

315:31:09 Q. And is that 20 percent figure also

415:31:11 based on a back-of-the-envelope calculation

515:31:15 as opposed to a scientific study?

615:31:18 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

715:31:19 A. I don't recall at that point. By

815:31:22 then we were looking at the number of clips.

915:31:24 We were looking at the number of views for

1015:31:27 top clips and -- and it did appear that MTV

1115:31:37 Networks' content was -- was a large

1215:31:40 percentage or was a significant percentage of

1315:31:43 YouTube consumption.

1415:31:46 Q. And had MTVN or Viacom undertaken a

1515:31:53 scientific study to make that determination?

1615:31:56 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1715:31:57 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1815:31:58 A. I'm not sure how scientific either

1915:32:05 ratings on the internet or television, that

2015:32:09 kind of analysis is. I do know one way or

2115:32:13 the other, that we had engaged our research

2215:32:20 people to examine and analyze the YouTube,

2315:32:28 the consumption of YouTube clips, that it's

2415:32:32 reflected here or not, I don't remember.

2515:32:33 Q. And in this message, you say that
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215:32:37 MTVN had undertaken a very quick analysis and

315:32:40 it was back of the envelope. Does that lead

415:32:46 to the conclusion that this was more along

515:32:48 the lines of a nonscientific study?

615:32:50 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

715:32:52 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

815:32:52 A. It could be, it could not be. I

915:32:54 just don't remember at the time.

1015:32:55 Q. But you wrote this message to

1115:33:06 Mr. Schmidt saying that this was a

1215:33:07 back-of-the-envelope calculation, right?

1315:33:09 A. Yes, I did.

1415:33:10 Q. And that was an accurate statement

1515:33:12 as far as you were concerned, correct?

1615:33:15 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1715:33:17 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1815:33:18 A. Yes.

1915:33:54 Q. If you can turn to the second to

2015:33:57 last paragraph, the one that starts, "As you

2115:34:01 can imagine," and the second sentence is, "As

2215:34:06 importantly we're drawing increasingly

2315:34:11 uncomfortable with the time passing and feel

2415:34:13 that we cannot allow our content to be at

2515:34:15 YouTube in its current form."
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215:34:18 A. Yes.

315:34:19 Q. Are you telling Mr. Schmidt there

415:34:21 that to date Viacom and MTVN had been

515:34:24 allowing its content to be on YouTube?

615:34:28 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

715:34:29 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

815:34:30 A. While we were issuing takedown

915:34:42 notices against some of the content, there

1015:34:44 was other content which we were allowing to

1115:34:46 continue to be on YouTube.

1215:34:49 MR. VOLKMER: Okay. We need to

1315:34:51 change the tape.

1415:34:52 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

1515:34:53 3:33, and this ends tape number 2 in the

1615:34:55 videotaped deposition of Michael Wolf.

1715:34:58 (A brief recess was taken.)

1815:40:56 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is

1915:42:10 3:40 p.m., and this begins tape number 3

2015:42:13 in the videotaped deposition of Michael

2115:42:16 Wolf.

2215:42:16 MR. VOLKMER: I would like to mark

2315:42:17 Exhibit 20.

2415:42:26 (Exhibit Wolf-20, E-mail dated

2515:42:26 12/19/06, Bates No. VIA00174505, marked
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215:42:27 for identification, this date.)

315:42:27 Q. This is an e-mail exchange that

415:42:37 Viacom produced in this litigation between

515:42:39 Michael Wolf and Adam Cahan on December 19,

615:42:46 2006, and in the last in time e-mail Mr.

715:42:49 Cahan writes, "I think when we issue the

815:42:52 takedown we will hear from them."

915:42:55 Did you take this to mean that

1015:42:58 Mr. Cahan suspected that when Viacom issued a

1115:43:02 mass takedown to YouTube that Google would

1215:43:04 come back to the negotiating table?

1315:43:07 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1415:43:09 A. Yes.

1515:43:15 Q. And was that part of the

1615:43:17 negotiating strategy?

1715:43:19 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1815:43:19 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1915:43:20 A. Yes.

2015:43:31 Q. And what were the reasons that MTVN

2115:43:34 employed that strategy of issuing a massive

2215:43:37 takedown to YouTube in order to get Google to

2315:43:40 come back to the negotiating table?

2415:43:41 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

2515:43:42 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.
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215:46:29 and --

315:46:31 MS. KOHLMANN: I'm going to just

415:46:33 caution you not to disclose any

515:46:35 attorney-client privileged information.

615:46:37 THE WITNESS: Okay.

715:46:37 MR. ZUROFSKY: You said that that

815:46:38 lawyer was acting on your behalf of MTV

915:46:40 Networks, that is an attorney-client

1015:46:43 relationship with them.

1115:46:44 A. Okay. Then --

1215:46:53 Q. Setting aside any communications

1315:46:56 you had with MTV or Viacom lawyers, do you

1415:47:00 have any independent recollection of Viacom

1515:47:02 or MTVN accumulating clips to send to YouTube

1615:47:07 in one massive takedown notice instead of

1715:47:10 sending notices as they became aware of the

1815:47:12 content?

1915:47:13 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

2015:47:14 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

2115:47:15 A. In general we identified the clips

2215:47:22 and then had a sense for how many clips would

2315:47:27 be available so that we could decide when and

2415:47:31 if we sent a takedown notice, what would be

2515:47:35 the number of clips and in what shows.
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215:47:38 Q. Do you recall there being certain

315:47:49 criteria that MTVN applied in making

415:47:53 determinations about whether to send takedown

515:47:56 notices or clips?

615:48:00 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

715:48:01 A. I don't recall specifically. There

815:48:03 may have been some. I just don't remember.

915:48:05 Q. Do you remember there being any

1015:48:08 criteria that were based on length of the

1115:48:11 clip in determining whether or not MTVN

1215:48:17 should issue takedown notices?

1315:48:19 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1415:48:20 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1515:48:21 A. I don't recall.

1615:48:21 Q. What about particular networks or

1715:48:31 franchises, do you remember whether a

1815:48:34 particular clip was associated with a network

1915:48:37 or franchise being a factor in whether Viacom

2015:48:41 would issue a takedown notice?

2115:48:43 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

2215:48:43 A. And, again, I'm really -- it's very

2315:48:51 difficult to remember these things. I

2415:48:54 believe that there were clips that we did not

2515:48:56 want to take down, for example, clips from
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215:49:01 John Stewart and Steven Colbert, and that

315:49:04 there were other clips that we felt we should

415:49:09 take down. I just don't remember what were

515:49:11 the types of clips that we took down and not.

615:49:14 Q. And why do you think that Viacom

715:49:16 wanted the John Stewart and Steven Colbert

815:49:19 clips to stay up on the YouTube site?

915:49:21 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1015:49:22 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1115:49:23 A. This was an MTV Networks' decision.

1215:49:25 Q. Okay. I'll restate the question.

1315:49:26 Thank you.

1415:49:27 Why do you think that MTVN wanted

1515:49:29 the John Stewart and Steven Colbert clips to

1615:49:32 stay up on the YouTube website?

1715:49:35 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1815:49:36 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1915:49:36 A. And so I'm really giving you my

2015:49:42 speculation today.

2115:49:42 Q. Sure.

2215:49:42 A. But we were concerned that both

2315:49:49 John Stewart and Steven Colbert believed that

2415:49:53 their presence on YouTube was important for

2515:49:58 their ratings as well as for their



584ffb46-7a6e-4834-9ab5-d178479cf79c

805 Third Avenue, New York, New York 10022 (212)705-8585
DAVID FELDMAN WORLDWIDE, INC.

Page 201

1 Wolf

215:50:00 relationship with their audiences, and -- and

315:50:06 to a large extent the MTV Networks senior

415:50:10 team shared that belief.

515:50:12 Q. And did you share that belief?

615:50:15 A. I did.

715:50:15 Q. Can you think of any other programs

815:50:18 that fell under that category you just

915:50:20 discussed other than Mr. John Stewart's show

1015:50:24 and Mr. Colbert's show?

1115:50:28 A. There are probably others. I

1215:50:32 can't, you know, I can't remember which ones

1315:50:34 specifically, but overall in a company where

1415:50:38 the networks are aimed at a younger audience

1515:50:42 which would tend to be the same audience as

1615:50:44 YouTube, we need to strike the right balance

1715:50:47 between clips that we left up and clips that

1815:50:50 we decided to take down.

1915:51:50 MR. VOLKMER: I am going to mark

2015:51:52 Exhibit 21.

2115:51:52 (Exhibit Wolf-21, E-mail dated

2215:51:52 12/23/06, Bates No. VIA00173284, marked

2315:52:14 for identification, this date.)

2415:52:14 Q. This is an e-mail that Viacom

2515:52:50 produced in this litigation, it's from Adam



584ffb46-7a6e-4834-9ab5-d178479cf79c

805 Third Avenue, New York, New York 10022 (212)705-8585
DAVID FELDMAN WORLDWIDE, INC.

Page 202

1 Wolf

215:52:53 Cahan to Judy McGrath and Michael Wolf dated

315:52:57 December 23, 2006.

415:52:58 In the first paragraph, Mr. Cahan

515:53:01 writes, "As you know, we are gearing up for a

615:53:03 very significant takedown at YouTube by

715:53:07 January 2nd, 3rd, by last count the number

815:53:09 was 50 to 70,000 clips, I suspect that number

915:53:14 will grow before we are complete."

1015:53:16 So is it your understanding that

1115:53:21 Viacom was continuing the project of

1215:53:23 identifying clips and not asking that they be

1315:53:27 removed so that there could be one massive

1415:53:29 takedown notice sent?

1515:53:31 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1615:53:31 A. I don't know if it was MTV

1715:53:34 Networks. I'm sorry. I don't know if it was

1815:53:36 MTV Networks or Viacom. Could you repeat

1915:53:40 your question?

2015:53:40 Q. Sure. Was it your understanding

2115:53:42 that either Viacom or MTVN was continuing a

2215:53:46 project of identifying clips and not asking

2315:53:49 that they be removed so that there would be

2415:53:52 one massive takedown notice sent to YouTube?

2515:53:55 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.
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215:57:49 Q. What were your suspicions that that

315:57:53 would bring them back to the table or that it

415:57:55 would not?

515:57:56 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

615:57:57 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

715:57:58 A. You know, I don't remember what I

815:58:01 suspected at the time. I mean this reflects

915:58:08 Mr. Cahan's suspicion, not mine.

1015:58:12 Q. Mr. Cahan says, "That said it is

1115:58:22 absolutely critical that we play two facets

1215:58:25 of this strategy." And the first one is "The

1315:58:27 takedown" -- "The takedowns in one dramatic

1415:58:31 event (as opposed to drips)."

1515:58:33 Did you agree with that strategy?

1615:58:35 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1715:58:36 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

1815:58:37 A. I don't recall. I think that -- I

1915:58:48 don't recall.

2015:58:48 Q. Do you know if you responded to

2115:59:11 this e-mail?

2215:59:14 A. I don't recall.

2315:59:15 Q. Do you currently have in your

2415:59:30 possession the e-mails that you sent and

2515:59:32 received while at MTVN related to the Google
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215:59:35 negotiations that we've been discussing

315:59:37 today?

415:59:38 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

515:59:38 A. I'm not sure I understand the

615:59:42 question.

715:59:42 Q. Sure. I'll try to make it more

815:59:46 clear.

915:59:46 The e-mails that we've been

1015:59:48 discussing today, that you were -- that

1115:59:50 you've sent and received pertaining to the

1215:59:51 Google negotiations, do you still have those

1315:59:53 e-mails in your possession?

1415:59:54 A. Some of the e-mails you've shown me

1515:59:58 I've never seen before.

1615:59:59 Q. Sure.

1716:00:00 A. When I was asked for the documents

1816:00:05 in this case, I used Google desktop to

1916:00:10 uncover files that were on my computer that

2016:00:14 had been, had been deleted after I left

2116:00:18 Viacom, and so was able to go through my

2216:00:21 computer and retrieve those files through a

2316:00:25 Google desktop search.

2416:00:27 Q. You said the files had been deleted

2516:00:34 after you left Viacom, by whom were they
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216:00:38 deleted?

316:00:38 A. I deleted them. When I left

416:00:48 Viacom, there were lots of things I didn't

516:00:49 need and I kept my computer from Viacom for a

616:00:59 couple of weeks and got a new computer and

716:01:02 transferred the files that I had from my old

816:01:08 computer that I needed and trashed the

916:01:10 others.

1016:01:11 Q. Do you remember ever receiving from

1116:01:27 anyone at Viacom a notice that you were to

1216:01:30 preserve evidence that related to this

1316:01:33 litigation?

1416:01:34 A. No.

1516:01:34 Q. The e-mails that you were able to

1616:01:54 find using the Google desktop program, were

1716:01:58 those all of the e-mails that you had

1816:02:00 previously had in your possession when you

1916:02:03 left Viacom?

2016:02:04 A. All the e-mails that I had were the

2116:02:12 ones on my computer that, I guess, were

2216:02:15 stored locally and whatever I found with

2316:02:20 Google desktop was all there was.

2416:02:23 Q. And do you think that the, do you

2516:02:27 think the e-mails that you were able to find
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216:02:29 using Google desktop represented all of the

316:02:31 e-mails that you previously had in your

416:02:33 possession before you had deleted them?

516:02:35 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

616:02:43 A. Yeah, I don't know.

716:02:44 Q. When you left Viacom, did you take

816:02:54 a laptop with you?

916:02:59 A. I continued to use my Viacom laptop

1016:03:04 for a couple of weeks and then I transferred

1116:03:10 all of my computer to a new computer, gave

1216:03:14 Viacom back my computer.

1316:03:15 Q. And then after that period of time,

1416:03:24 you deleted some of the e-mails and you were

1516:03:28 able to find them again using Google desktop;

1616:03:28 is that right?

1716:03:32 A. Yeah, I transferred --

1816:03:32 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

1916:03:33 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry.

2016:03:35 MR. ZUROFSKY: Go ahead.

2116:03:35 A. I transferred everything over from

2216:03:37 my old computer to my new one. I had already

2316:03:40 deleted the, all of the e-mail, literally all

2416:03:43 of the Viacom e-mails that I had, not just

2516:03:46 the ones related to anything in particular,
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216:03:49 somehow when I transferred them over,

316:03:51 transferred the hard drives over, even though

416:03:53 they were deleted, they -- Google desktop can

516:03:57 find stuff that you deleted.

616:03:59 Q. So after you left Viacom, you still

716:04:06 had a Viacom-issued laptop in your possession

816:04:09 and before you returned it to Viacom you

916:04:11 deleted all of the Viacom e-mails; is that

1016:04:14 right?

1116:04:14 A. I deleted everything, my entire,

1216:04:18 all of the e-mails in my Outlook folder.

1316:04:21 Q. When you stopped working at Viacom,

1416:04:45 did you have just one laptop or did you have

1516:04:47 any other computers?

1616:04:50 A. I had two other computers.

1716:04:52 Q. And what were those? Were they

1816:04:54 desktops or were they also laptops?

1916:04:58 A. Desktops.

2016:04:59 Q. And did you take them with you when

2116:05:00 you left Viacom or did they remain at Viacom?

2216:05:03 MR. ZUROFSKY: Objection.

2316:05:05 Go ahead.

2416:05:05 A. One of the computers was at Viacom,

2516:05:08 was my desktop at Viacom. The other computer
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216:05:11 was a computer that Viacom had installed in

316:05:16 my home. I immediately returned that

416:05:20 computer to Viacom. I left my office

516:05:25 computer at the office.

616:05:25 Q. And did you have a BlackBerry or

716:05:33 other PDA that had been Viacom issued when

816:05:37 you left Viacom employment?

916:05:40 A. Yes.

1016:05:40 Q. And what did you do with that

1116:05:43 device?

1216:05:43 A. I returned it to Viacom.

1316:05:47 Q. Concurrently with the termination

1416:05:50 of your employment?

1516:05:51 A. Yes.

1616:06:08 Q. And, Mr. Wolf, do you have a

1716:06:09 YouTube account?

1816:06:12 A. Yes.

1916:06:12 Q. And what is your user name?

2016:06:16 A. I really --

2116:06:18 MS. KOHLMANN: Objection.

2216:06:19 A. I don't remember it. I'm sure I

2316:06:22 could check.

2416:06:23 Q. Have you ever uploaded videos to

2516:06:25 YouTube?
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